RECEIVED

MAR 18 2020

S.C. SUPREME COURT

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

Appeal From Anderson County
Court of Common Pleas

J. Cordell Maddox, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate (Court of Appeals) Case No. 2016-000679

Nationwide Mutual Fire Insurance Company, Respondent

v.

Sharmin Christine Walls, Randi Harper, Wendy Timms in
her capacity as Personal Representative of the Estate of
Christopher Adam Timms, Deborah Timms, Defendants

Of whom, Sharmin Christine Walls, Randi Harper and Wendy Timms in
her capacity as Personal Representative of the Estate of Christopher Adam
Timms, are the Petitioners.

Appellate Case No.: 2019-001596

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

Whether the plain meaning and Legislative Pronouncement set forth in S.C. Code Ann. §38-77-142 (c) and Williams v Gov't Emp. Ins. Co. (GEICO) 409 SC 586, 762 S.E. 2nd 705 (2014) established the precedent to make void Nationwide's attempt to reduce the coverage stated in the declaration page of the policy.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises out of a one vehicle automobile accident involving Corey Mayfield as a driver. Mayfield was driving a Chevrolet Lumina insured by Nationwide and owned by Respondent Sharmin Walls. Walls, Christopher Timms, and Randi Harper were passengers in the vehicle when State Trooper Travis Wilson observed Mayfield crossing the yellow line and speeding. Trooper Wilson activated his blue lights. Mayfield ultimately lost control of the vehicle and ran off the road in a single-car accident that caused Timms' death, and severe injuries to Walls and Harper.

The Nationwide policy insuring the Chevrolet Lumina provided liability limits of \$100,000 per person and \$300,000 per accident. However, the policy included a step-down provision limiting the coverage to the statutory minimum limits for automobile liability coverage if the insured driver was (1) fleeing a law enforcement officer or (2) in the commission of a felony. "(App. p. 34-37).

Nationwide tendered the minimum limits required by the South Carolina Financial Responsibility Act, a total of \$50,000 to the Petitioners here. Nationwide then filed this declaratory judgment action seeking a declaration applying the commission of a felony and flight from law enforcement exclusions.

The case came before the Honorable J. Cordell Maddox, Jr. for a bench trial on September 12, 2013.

On August 18, 2014, the Circuit Court entered an Order in favor of Petitioners and against Nationwide (App. pp. 15-21). The Circuit Court found that Mayfield was a non-permissive user of the vehicle and, therefore, Petitioners were entitled to uninsured motorist coverage (App. p. 20).

On August 26, 2014, Nationwide served a Motion to Alter or Amend the August 18 Order. (App. pp. 87-88, 89-114). In particular, Nationwide argued that the Petitioners had failed to raise the issue of Mayfield's non-permissive use in their pleadings, and that Petitioners were precluded from seeking uninsured motorist coverage because they had previously recovered liability payments. (App. p. 90). Nationwide also argued that the Order misapplied South Carolina law, failed to make the key factual determinations of whether Mayfield was fleeing from law enforcement at the time of the accident and / or committing a felony, and made factual determinations that were not supported by the record (App. pp 92-96, 107-108).

The Circuit Court held a hearing on Nationwide's Motion to Alter or Amend on March 6, 2015. At the hearing Petitioners withdrew their contention that the uninsured motorist coverage applied. (App. p. 127 ln. 10-14). The Circuit Court found that Mayfield was fleeing from law enforcement at the time of the accident. (App. p. 126, lines 12-17) and consequently entered an Order, on February 26, 2016, finding Mayfield was fleeing from law enforcement at the time of the accident and that his conduct constituted a felony. (App. p.9).

The Circuit Court ruled in favor of the Petitioners, based on the Supreme Court's recent decision in Williams v. Government Employees Insurance Company 409 S. C. 586, 762 S.E. 2d 705 (2014), which held that any provision in an automobile liability policy issued in South Carolina that reduces coverage from the amounts stated in the

declarations page of the policy is void and violates public policy because it is in direct contravention of the mandates set forth in South Carolina Code Ann. §38-77-142(c). (App. p. 10-14).

Nationwide appealed the Circuit Court's ruling to the Court of Appeals. The Court of Appeals held oral argument on October 3, 2018 and issued its ruling on June 5, 2019. (App. pp. 345-354).

In its decision, the Court of Appeals distinguished this case from Williams, supra, saying that in Williams the clause in the policy reduced coverage to a class of persons at the time of the issuance of the policy, while in the instant case coverage was only reduced as a result of conduct of the insured at a later time. The Court of Appeals further found that the step-down provision was not violative of public policy, reasoning, in part, that an insurer may exclude voluntary coverage for intentional acts.

After the Petitioners' Request for Rehearing was denied on August 22, 2019, the Petitioners timely filed a Petition for Certiorari with the South Carolina Supreme Court. The Petition for Writ of Certiorari was granted by the Supreme Court on February 12, 2020.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The facts of this case were largely stipulated at trial. Walls owned a Chevrolet Lumina insured by Nationwide (App. p. 207). The policy provided liability limits of \$100,000 per person, \$300,000 per accident. (App. p.207). However, the policy contained an exclusion that applied to any coverage in excess of the State's mandatory minimum limits if bodily injury occurred while an insured was fleeing from law enforcement or committing a felony;

“B. This coverage does not apply, with regard to any amounts above the minimum limits required by the South Carolina Financial Responsibility Law as of the date of the loss, to:

6. Bodily injury or property damage caused by:
 - (a) you;
 - (b) a relative; or
 - (c) anyone else while operating your auto;
 - (1) while committing a felony; or
 - (2) while fleeing a law enforcement officer “

(App. pp 221-222).

On July 11, 2008, Walls, Mayfield, Harper and Timms had been at Walls' residence when they left as a group with Mayfield driving Walls' Chevrolet Lumina (App. pp 250-252). Trooper Travis Wilson observed the vehicle on South Carolina Highway 81 in Anderson, crossing the yellow line and going approximately 12 miles an hour over the speed limit. (App. pp. 112-114). Trooper Wilson decided to pull the vehicle over and activated his blue lights. (App. p. 112). Mayfield refused to stop and accelerated away from the Trooper. While driving down Highway 81 South, Trooper Wilson's vehicle reached speeds of 109 miles per hour in an effort to keep up with the Lumina (App. p 112-113).

After several turns on secondary roads, Trooper Wilson received instructions to terminate the pursuit, which he did. (App. p. 113). However, by the time Trooper Wilson deactivated his siren and blue lights, the Lumina was out of sight. (App. p 113).

Approximately a mile down the road, Mayfield lost control of the Lumina and ran off the road in a single vehicle accident. (App. p 113). Trooper Wilson came upon the scene within a minute-and-a-half of terminating the chase. (App. p 113). The Greenville

County Accident Reconstruction Team investigated and determined that Mayfield was traveling a minimum of 72 miles per hour when he lost control. (App. p 113). The speed limit on that portion of Leatherdale Road was 35 miles per hour (App. p 113). Timms died as a result of the accident, and Mayfield, Walls and Harper each sustained serious injuries.

Mayfield was charged with and ultimately pled guilty pursuant to North Carolina v. Alford 400 U.S. 25, 91 S.C. 160 (1970), to reckless homicide, a felony. (App. p 114). The Circuit Court made a factual determination that Mayfield was fleeing a law enforcement officer at the time of the accident (App. p 8). The Circuit Court based its factual determination on damage to the vehicle, the speed of the vehicle at the time of the accident, the dash cam video, witness statements, and the timeline (App. pp 8-9). Even though Trooper Wilson had terminated the chase, the Circuit Court found that Mayfield's unlawful course of conduct and manner of driving continued up until the time of the crash.

Nationwide agreed to tender its \$50,000 of undisputed liability coverage, which the Petitioners accepted. (App. pp 257-267); Furthermore, Mayfield had excess liability coverage under a policy of insurance issued by State Auto. State Auto also tendered its liability limits of \$50,000. (App. pp. 24-26,27-30). Then, Nationwide filed a declaratory judgment action seeking application of the felony and "flight from law enforcement exclusions." (App. pp.37-43).

The Petitioners do not contest that Mayfield was fleeing law enforcement and committing a felony at the time. They maintain, however, that regardless of the language of the policy limiting coverage when an insured is fleeing law enforcement or

committing a felony, the step-down provision is void and violates public policy pursuant to South Carolina Code Ann. §38-77-142(c). (App. pp 10-14), and Williams, supra.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“A suit for declaratory judgement is neither legal nor equitable, but is determined by the nature of the underlying issue.” Felts v. Richland County 303 S.C. 354, 356, 400 S.E. 2d 781, 782, (1991). “When the purpose of the underlying dispute is to determine whether coverage exists under an insurance policy, the action is one at law.” S.C. Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co. v. Kennedy 398 S.C. 604, 610, 730 S.E. 2d 862, 864 (2012) (citation omitted). “In an action at law tried without a jury, the appellate court will not disturb the trial court’s findings of fact unless there is no evidence to reasonably support them” Crossmann Cmtys. of N.C., Inc. v. Harleysville Mut. Ins. Co., 395 S.C. 40, 46-47, 717 S.E. 2d 589, 592 (2011) (citation omitted); accord Townes Assocs. v. City of Greenville 266 S.C. 81, 86, 221 S.E. 2d 773, 775 (1976). See Williams v. Government Employees Ins. Co. (GEICO) 409 S.C. 586, 762 S.E. 2d 705 (2014). “However, an appellate court may make its own determinations on questions of law and need not defer to the trial court’s rulings in this regard.” Kennedy 398 S.C. at 610, 730 S.E.2d at 864. “When an appeal involves stipulated or undisputed facts, an appellate court is free to review whether the trial court properly applied the law to those facts.” UWDW Props. V City of Sumter, 342 S.C. 6, 10, 353 S.E.2d 631, 632 (2000).

ARGUMENT

It is respectfully submitted that the Court of Appeals overlooked the specific holdings in the Williams case which exhaustively reviewed the law of this state and other states, and concluded that the statutory provision as set forth in S.C. Code Ann. §38-77-142(c) mandatorily voided any provision seeking to limit or reduce coverage to the named insured (Walls). The Court in Williams made **two specific rulings**.

First, it ruled that the clear terms of §38-77-142 (c) were controlling of this state's public policy and that the step-down provision conflicted with §38-77-142(c) and was therefore invalid and void, and that no policy may limit or reduce the coverage required by this section and if any attempt was made to do so, it was void... Williams at page 714.

...“We find the clear terms of section 38-77-142 are controlling of this state's public policy and justify the result we reach today.” Williams, *supra*, at p. 716.

“The cardinal rule of statutory construction is for a court to ascertain the intent of the legislature and to give it effect. *Charleston County Sch. Dist. v. State Budget and Control Bd.*, 313 S.C. 1, 437 S.E.2d 6 (1993). “What a legislature says in the text of a statute is considered the best evidence of the legislative intent or will.” Norman J. Singer, *Sutherland Statutory Construction* § 46.03 at 94 (5th ed.1992). If a statute's language is plain, unambiguous, and conveys a clear meaning “the rules of statutory interpretation are not needed and the court has no right to impose another meaning.” *Hodges v. Rainey*, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000). This plain meaning rule ensures a court will not change the meaning of an unambiguous statute. *Id.*” Knotts v. S.C. Dep't of Nat. Res., 348 S.C. 1, 10, 558 S.E.2d 511, 516 (2002).

Second, the Court ruled that in addition to the above, the provision in Williams as to family members was arbitrary, capricious and injurious to the public good; the Court stating “**that in addition** [emphasis added] to allow an insurer to determine the extent to which an injured party can recover within the insured's policy coverage,

based solely on a familial relationship, is arbitrary, capricious and injurious to the public good”.... See Williams at page 717.

The Court of Appeals focused solely on the Second basis for the ruling and ignored the plain meaning of the statute and Williams.

The Court of Appeals, in its opinion, further attempted to buttress its decision based upon S.C. Code §56-9-20. This view is similar to the dissenting opinion in Williams which was expressly rejected by the Supreme Court, and the Supreme Court by its majority decision in Williams, in footnote 8 made clear that §56-9-20, was limited to the MVFRA and thus, “ had no bearing on the application of **other** [emphasis added] motor vehicle laws, such as §38-77-142, or the related consideration of our state’s public policy” . (footnote 8, Williams at page 717)

We contend that the public policy of this state expressed by the Legislature, in §38-77-142 (c) prevents the insurer from reducing the coverage from the amount stated in the policy, which in this case was \$300,000.00, to the statutory minimum limit required by §38-77-142(a), which was \$25,000.00 per person for bodily injury the policy period at issue.

In Williams, the Supreme Court stated as follows:

“The PR’s contend the public policy of this state, as evidenced in §38-77-142, prevents an insurer from reducing the amount stated in the policy, which here was \$100,000, to the statutory minimum limit required by the §38-77-140 (A), which was 15,000 per person for bodily injury during the policy period at issue. **We agree.** [emphasis added] See Williams, at page 712.

The Williams Court further specifically found and concluded as a matter of law as follows:

“Finally, Subsection (c) provides that no policy provision may limit or reduce the coverage required by this section, which refers to §38-77-142, or it is void”. See Williams, at page 714.

The Supreme Court further stated that insurance companies could not limit or reduce liability coverages below the amount provided in §38-77-142(c) and held that the face amount of the coverage was relevant, not the statutory minimum limits as set forth in §38-77-140. Williams, at page 714.

The Supreme Court was particularly focused on the manner in which automobile insurance was marketed, and recognized that the General Assembly in its specific language contained in §38-77-142(c) specifically included language to prevent step-down provisions such as appears in the Nationwide policy. The Court of Appeals has failed to recognize this distinction and has failed to follow the precedent of the Williams case, *supra*.

S.C. Code Ann. §38-77-142(c) is an unambiguous statement by the General Assembly of this State and the plain meaning of this statute must be enforced as was done in the Williams case, *supra*. Walls, the named insured, purchased the 100,000/300,000 limits. The Petitioners were essentially innocent victims of a “car-jacking”. If the law is to be changed, that is for the Legislature, not the Court of Appeals. If the precedent set by Williams is to be overruled, it is the province of the Supreme Court of this State, not the Court of Appeals.

The personal representatives in Williams argued that public policy was violated by the provision in Williams on the basis that (1) the family step-down provision was in contravention of §38-77-142(c); and (2) that the provision is capable of producing harm such that its enforcement would be contrary to the public interest or manifestly injurious to the public welfare.

The Williams Court found that the provision violated public policy on both bases and thus was void. Id. at 717. It should be noted, however, the provision was found to be void on the basis of *either* violation *individually*, and did not require that both bases be present to invalidate the provision.

S. C. Code Ann. §38-77-142(c) forecloses Nationwides’s right to a step-down in coverage.

“(c) Any endorsement, provision, or rider attached to or included in any policy of insurance which purports or seeks to limit or reduce the coverage afforded by the provisions required by this section is void. S.C. Code Ann. §38-77-142(c) (2002).”

The Williams Court found that S.C. Code Ann. §38-77-142(c) prohibits reduction of the liability limits stated in the declarations page of the policy through the use of a policy step-down provision. The language set forth below effectively answers and negates Nationwide’s argument as to “within the coverage/within the limits”. The Declaration Page of the Walls policy is essentially the same as that referenced in the Williams case. (Walls Nationwide Policy, App. p.207)

“In viewing the plain wording of §38-77-142, we find subsections (A) and (B) require a policy for liability insurance to contain a provision insuring the named insureds and permissive users against liability for damage incurred “within the coverage of the policy”. Subsection (B) additionally contains a provision regarding notice that states the mere failure to turn over a motion or complaint will not void coverage. Finally, subsection (c) provides that no policy provision may limit *or reduce* the coverage required by *this section* which refers to section 38-77-142, or else it is void.

We think it is significant that §38-77-142 provides insurers must provide liability coverage to insureds “within the coverage of the policy” and may not limit or reduce liability coverage in the policy below the amount provided *in this section* meaning §38-77-142. Thus, it is the face amount of the coverage that is relevant under §38-77-142, not the statutory minimum limits of liability coverage set forth in §38-77-140, which are not even mentioned in the statute”.

Therefore, once the face amount of coverage is agreed upon, it may not be arbitrarily reduced or limited by conflicting policy provisions that effectively retract this stated coverage (emphasis added). Any other interpretation of §38-77-142(c) would render the section useless, and the General Assembly is presumed not to perform useless acts. See

Denene, Inc v. City of Charleston, 352 S.C. 208, 212, 574 S.E. 2d 196, 198 (2002). (“The Court must presume the legislature did not intend a futile act, but rather intended its statutes to accomplish something.” (Citing *TNS Mills, Inc. v. S.C. Dept. Of Rev* 331 S.C. 611, 503 S.E. 2d 471 (1998)). After agreeing on a policy with \$100,000 in stated liability coverage for the named insureds, GEICO should not be permitted to subsequently reduce it with what it deems an “exclusion” in the policy.

Williams vs. Gov’t Employees Ins. Co. (GEICO), 409 S.C. 586, 604 762 S.E. 2d 705, 715 (2014) (Emphasis the Petitioners’).

The Williams case is directly on point with the case now before the Court.

Nationwide issued a policy to Sharmin Walls providing a face amount of coverage of 100,000/300,000 split limits liability coverage in the declarations page of the policy.

The Appellant’s step-down provision conflicts with the liability limits stated in the declarations and purports to effectively retract the stated coverage. This is precisely the actions that the Williams Court found to be prohibited.

The step-down provision in this case violates public policy because it violates the mandates of S.C. Code Ann. §38-77-142(c) as interpreted by the Supreme Court in

Williams. The provision is therefore void.

“A provision that is against public policy is void *ab initio* and, because it is deemed legally never to have come into existence, it is incapable of being enforced by courts. 16 Richard A. Lord, *Williston on Contracts* §49:12 (4th Ed. 2000). We see no reason to depart from this procedure here, as suggested in the concurrence/dissent, as it would be a hollow victory indeed for the prevailing parties if we were to enforce the offending provision here and restrict relief to prospective cases only. Where courts have found insurance provisions to be void against public policy, there have, as a matter of course, refused to give any effect to those provisions in the appeals before them. See generally *Lewis v. W. Am. Ins. Co.*, 927 S.W. 2d 829, 836 (Ky. 1996); *Watters v. Dairyland Ins. Co.* 50 Ohio App 2d 106, 361 N.E. 2d 1068 (1976); *Ryan vs. Knoller* 695 A. 2d 990 (R.I. 1997)”

Williams v. Gov’t Employees Ins. Co. (GEICO) 409 S.C. 586, 608, 762 S.E. 2d 705, 717 (2014).

The step-down provision should be found to be *void ab initio*, and Petitioners, therefore, are entitled to have the policy construed in the absence of the step-down provision. Thus, the applicable policy limits are \$100,000/\$300,000.

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