IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

J. Cordell Maddox, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-001596

RECEIVED

07
MAY 26 2020

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Nationwide Mutual Fire Insurance Company..... Respondent.

v.

Sharmin Christine Walls, Randi Harper, Wendy Timms in her
capacity as Personal Representative of the Estate of Christopher
Adam Timms, Deborah Timms,Defendants.

Of Whom,

Sharmin Christine Walls and Randi Harper are thePetitioners.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

J.R. Murphy, Esquire
(SC Bar No. 7941)
Wesley B. Sawyer, Esquire
(SC Bar No. 100229)
Murphy & Grantland, P.A.
P.O. Box 6648
Columbia, SC 29260

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

The public policy, however, has been effected by the enactment of the minimal limits coverage statute found in S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-140. As recognized in *Shores*, “the legislature has determined that for all vehicles registered in South Carolina, at least minimal coverage is necessary to protect the public.” To the extent the legislature determines this public policy is not being effected, it has the option of raising the minimum limits. We will not construe the plain language of the statute to extend the public policy beyond that which was plainly intended.

340 S.C. at 230, 5350 S.E.2d at 664. Therefore, an exclusion that attempts to exclude all coverage for criminal or intentional conduct violates South Carolina public policy because it conflicts with the minimum insurance requirements of § 38-77-140. However, exclusions that reduce coverage to the State’s mandatory minimum limits are enforceable to the extent that they otherwise comply with South Carolina’s public policy. Nationwide’s exclusions for criminal conduct do just that.

Nationwide’s flight from law enforcement and felony exclusions plainly and unambiguously define what conduct is subject to the exclusions, and to whom the exclusions apply:

- B. This coverage does not apply to any amounts above the minimum limits required by the South Carolina Financial Responsibility Laws as of the date of the loss, to:
 - a) **You**;
 - b) a **relative**; or
 - c) anyone else while operating **your auto**:
 - (1) while committing a felony; or
 - (2) while fleeing a law enforcement officer.

(R. p. 109-110).

On its most basic level, Petitioners’ argument is that Nationwide’s flight from law enforcement and felony exclusions violate South Carolina law because they are worded as step-down provisions. Petitioners point to this Court’s holding in *Williams*, which focused specifically on a family member step-down, and Petitioners extrapolate from that holding to broadly preclude *any* exclusion for *any* conduct in *any* insurance policy issued in South Carolina. However,

Nationwide phrased the exclusions as only applying to amounts above the state's minimum requirements so that the exclusions would conform to the requirements of South Carolina law.

As noted above, South Carolina Code § 38-77-140 mandates minimum limits of coverage even when an insured is committing illegal or intentional acts. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-140; *Mumford*, 299 S.C. at 17, 382 S.E.2d at 12-13 (holding that the Act mandates minimum limits coverage and “draws no distinction between intentional acts and negligent acts . . .”). Therefore, Nationwide could not exclude bodily injuries for felonious conduct or flight from law enforcement if the exclusion had the impact of reducing coverage below the minimum limits. The exclusion acknowledges this rule by plainly informing the insured that it applies “with regards to any amounts above the minimum limits required by the South Carolina Financial Responsibility Law . . .” (R. p. 109). The exclusion applies, but only for amounts in excess of the mandatory minimum limits.

By wording the exclusion as a step-down provision, Nationwide accurately conveys the legal effect of the exclusion to the insured. In fact, a provision merely stating that felony or flight from law enforcement is “excluded” would likely lead an insured to the incorrect conclusion that the policy provides no coverage for that conduct. Instead, the Nationwide policy language accurately describes how the exclusion works. If anything, the fact that these exclusions are worded as a step-down should confirm that the exclusions are valid and enforceable under South Carolina law.

C. Felony and flight from law enforcement exclusions have been approved by courts across the country, with some courts holding it violates public policy if a carrier fails to include these exclusions.

The Court of Appeals looked to courts from across the country that have held felony and flight from law enforcement exclusions comport with public policy. (Appendix p. 353). The number of jurisdictions finding that similar exclusions do not violate public policy is

overwhelming. In fact, Petitioners have not cited a single case finding a similar exclusion violates public policy when applied to coverage in excess of a state's minimum limits of liability coverage.

In *Williams*, the Court found a family member step-down provision was arbitrary and capricious because it reduced coverage for a specific class of claimants. The Court spent a significant portion of its analysis discussing the reasoning from a number of courts that have struck down similar family member limitations. In contrast, courts from across the country routinely uphold and enforce felony and flight from law enforcement exclusions.² If the rule is not unanimous, then it certainly is the overwhelming majority rule.

² *Alfa Specialty Ins. Co. v. Jennings*, 906 So. 2d 195 (Ala. Civ. App. 2005) (holding felony exclusion in automobile liability policy did not violate public policy where insured was fleeing law enforcement); *Hix v. Hertz Corp.*, 307 Ga. App. 369, 705 S.E.2d 219 (Ct. App. 2010) (same); *Southern Farm Bureau Cas. Ins. Co. v. Easter*, 374 Ark. 238, 287 S.W.3d 537 (2008) (holding that eluding-lawful-arrest exclusion did not violate public policy as stated in state's compulsory insurance statute or no-fault statute); *Bailey v. Lincoln General Ins. Co.*, 255 P.3d 1039, 1048 n.2 (Colo. 2011) ("Of course, many jurisdictions, although not recognizing a public-policy requirement for insurers to include intentional or criminal-act exclusions, hold that public policy is not violated where insurers include in liability or excess insurance policies criminal-acts or other similar exclusions . . .") (auto policy); *Cotton States Mut. Ins. Co. v. Neese*, 254 Ga. 335, 341-42, 329 S.E.2d 136, 142 (1985) (holding that application of flight-from-law-enforcement exclusion in automobile liability policy to amounts exceeding state's minimum limits did not violate public policy); *Bohner v. Ace American Ins. Co.*, 359 Ill. App. 3d 621, 834 N.E.2d 635 (App. 2 Dist. 2005) (holding that criminal act exclusion in auto gap policy was enforceable and did not violate public policy); *Slayko v. Security Mut. Ins. Co.*, 98 N.Y.2d 289, 774 N.E.2d 208 (2002) (holding that a criminal activity exclusion in a homeowners policy does not violate public policy); *American Family Mut. Ins. Co. v. Hadley*, 264 Neb. 435, 445-46, 648 N.W.2d 769, 779-80 (2002) ("As a general rule, the majority of courts that have addressed the issue hold that a provision in a homeowner's policy which excludes coverage for claims arising from criminal acts . . . does not violate public policy."); *Allstate Ins. Co. v. Peasley*, 131 Wash. 2d 420, 932 P.2d 1244 (1997) (holding that criminal acts exclusion in homeowners policy did not violate public policy); *ANPAC v. Clendenen*, 793 S.E.2d 899, 908 (W. Va. 2016) ("Indeed, the majority of jurisdictions to consider the question raised . . . apply intentional acts exclusions similar to the exclusions in [the] policies to preclude coverage to an insured based on the intentional or criminal acts of a co-insured") (homeowners policy); *Pompa v. American Family Mut. Ins. Co.*, 520 F.3d 1139 (10th Cir. 2008) (applying Colorado law and holding that a criminal acts exclusion in a homeowners policy does not violate public policy); *American Family Mut. Ins. Group v. Kostaneski*, 688 N.W.2d 410, 415 (S.D. 2004) ("It is contra bonos mores to allow a man to insure against the consequences of his own . . . criminal conduct.") (homeowners policy); *Auto Club Group Ins. Co.*

Unlike the family member provision at issue in *Williams* (discussed below in Section II), an exclusion that merely excludes illegal conduct can no more be arbitrary and capricious than the criminal statutes that make this same conduct illegal. “An exclusion in an automobile policy as to loss while the automobile used is engaged in unlawful flight from the police is not against public policy.” 8A Couch on Ins. § 121:92; *see also* 41 A.L.R.6th 527 (“Efforts to exclude coverage for such behavior are often bolstered by judicial and legislative policies against allowing individuals to insure themselves against the consequences of their own intentional misconduct.”). Because the General Assembly has already deemed Mayfield’s conduct reprehensible by making it criminal, Nationwide’s exclusion for the same reprehensible conduct is not at all arbitrary.

Public policy is always harmed when a policy gives insureds license to engage in criminal conduct. *Bailey v. Lincoln General Ins. Co.*, 255 P.3d 1039, 1048 (Colo. 2011). In fact, public policy strongly *favours* criminal acts exclusions: “Indeed, this public-policy principle is so

v. Daniel, 254 Mich. App. 1, 5, 658 N.W.2d 193, 196 (Ct. App. 2002) (“[A]s a matter of public policy, an insurance policy that excludes coverage for a person’s criminal acts serves to *deter* crime, while a policy that provides benefits to those who commit crimes would *encourage* it.”) (homeowners policy); *Princeton Ins. Co. v. Chunmuang*, 151 N.J. 80, 698 A.2d 9 (1997) (holding that criminal acts exclusions are “valid and do not violate public policy.”) (medical malpractice policy); *New Mexico Physicians Mut. Liability Co. v. LaMure*, 116 N.M. 92, 860 P.2d 734 (1993) (holding that a criminal acts exclusion in a physician’s professional liability policy did not violate public policy); *Rivera v. Nevada Medical Liability Ins. Co.*, 107 Nev. 450, 455, 814 P.2d 71, 74 (1991) (same); *Barker v. California-Western States Life Ins. Co.*, 252 Cal. App. 2d 768, 776, 61 Cal. Rptr. 595 (1967), *cert. denied*, 390 U.S. 922, 88 S. Ct. 855 (1968) (concluding felony exclusion clause in a life insurance policy is not contrary to public policy); *James v. Louisiana Laborers Health & Welfare Fund*, 29 F.3d 1029 (5th Cir. 1994) (upholding provision in health insurance plan excluding coverage for expenses incurred in the course or commission of a felony); *Sisters of the Third Order of St. Francis v. Swedish American Group Health Benefit Trust*, 901 F.2d 1369, 1370 (7th Cir. 1990) (holding that because drunk driving is illegal activity under Illinois law, insured was not able to recover from a health plan for the injuries he sustained in a drunk driving accident); *Littlefield v. Acadia Ins. Co.*, 392 F.3d 1, 12 n.12 (1st Cir. 2004) (“We note that numerous state courts have also held that enforcement of similar insurance policy provisions excluding coverage for criminally caused loss or liability does not violate the public policy of those states.”) (boating policy).

compelling that, in many jurisdictions, insurers may actually violate public policy if they fail to include criminal-acts or intentional-acts exclusions in their policies.” *Id.* at 1048.

In the *Bailey* case, the Supreme Court of Colorado considered the flight from law enforcement exclusion and concluded that the exclusion did not violate public policy. The Supreme Court began by recognizing three competing public policy interests: (1) protecting tort victims; (2) protecting the freedom of contract rights of insurers and insureds; and (3) allowing insurers to shift risk based on their insureds’ conduct, especially when that conduct significantly increases the risk of the insurers’ liability and may be encouraged by indemnification. 255 P.3d at 1046-47. South Carolina recognizes these same principles. *See Williams*, 409 S.C. at 598, 762 S.E.2d at 712 (recognizing (1) the purpose of the MVFRA of protecting tort victims and (2) the parties’ freedom of contract rights); *Columbia Real Estate & Trust Co. v. Royal Exch. Assurance*, 132 S.C. 427, 128 S.E. 865, 867-68 (1925) (recognizing that one purpose of the stated value policy statute is to reduce the moral hazard created by over insuring property).

The Colorado Supreme Court recognized the purpose of the flight from law enforcement exclusion: “Most felonious criminal misconduct, like intentional misconduct, significantly alters the calculus of risk between the insurer and the insured, subjecting the insurer to increased and significantly greater risk of liability.” *Bailey*, 255 P.3d at 1047. “If a single insured is allowed, through an intentional act, to consciously control risks covered by the policy, the central concept of insurance is violated.” *Bohner*, 359 Ill. App. 3d at 626, 834 N.E.2d at 84 (citation omitted). “[M]ost insureds can keep themselves from engaging in felonious criminal conduct in the same way that [m]ost individuals can protect themselves from causing intentional harm.” *Bailey*, 255 P.3d at 1047. Because the exclusions have a clear, intelligible, and logical basis, they are neither arbitrary nor capricious.

The Colorado Supreme Court also held that the flight from law enforcement exclusion supports public policy: “Finally, public policy is also concerned with insurers giving insureds license to engage in intentional misconduct, which may be ‘more likely if . . . insured[s] believe [they] will not have to bear the financial costs of the intentional conduct.’” *Id.* at 1047-48. “The concern with giving insureds license to engage in intentional misconduct applies with equal force to most felonious criminal misconduct.” *Id.* This public policy is so important, many jurisdictions hold that an insurer actually violates public policy if it fails to include a criminal-acts or intentional-acts exclusion. *Id.* at 1048 (citing several cases).

In addition to the courts across the county that have generally addressed felony and flight from law enforcement exclusions, the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Virginia specifically found that an illegal acts exclusion does not conflict with Virginia’s nearly identical omnibus statute, which served as the model for the South Carolina statute addressed by the Court in *Williams*. See *Standard Fire Ins. Co. v. Armstrong*, 2013 WL 1933828 (E.D. Va. May 8, 2013).

In *Williams*, the Court address South Carolina’s omnibus statute, located at South Carolina Code § 38-77-142. Importantly, the South Carolina General Assembly adopted § 38-77-142 from Virginia’s statute, as evidenced by a typographical error in South Carolina’s statute that was copied from Virginia’s statute. South Carolina’s statute applies only to motor vehicles, but Virginia’s statute applies to both vehicles and watercraft. Thus, the Virginia statute applies to vehicles and watercraft “garaged, docked, or used in” Virginia. Va. Code § 38.2-2204(A). South Carolina’s omnibus statute only applies to “motor vehicles,” which are defined in the statute as vehicles “designed for use upon a highway.” Nonetheless, when South Carolina adopted Virginia’s omnibus statute, the General Assembly inadvertently kept the word “docked” from the Virginia

statute. See S.C. Code § 38-77-142(A) (“No policy . . . covering liability arising from the . . . use of a motor vehicle may be issued . . . upon a motor vehicle that is principally garaged, docked, or used in this State Each policy or contract of liability insurance . . . insuring private passenger automobiles principally garaged, docked, or used in this State . . .”) (emphasis added). Obviously, motor vehicles are not “docked.” Therefore, this typographical error in the South Carolina statute makes it obvious that South Carolina adopted this omnibus statute from Virginia.

Applying the Virginia statute, the District Court in *Armstrong* enforced an “illegal act” exclusion in a policy insuring the operation of a watercraft. In that case, the insured operated an insured boat while intoxicated, collided with another watercraft, and pled guilty to charges arising out of the collision. The District Court held the illegal acts exclusion applied. *Id.* at *3. The District Court reviewed section 38.2-2204 and held it could find nothing in the statute “forbidding an exclusion of coverage for dishonest and illegal actions where an intoxicated boater causes property damage.” *Id.* Thus, whereas Petitioners fail to cite any case holding a similar statute prohibits a felony or flight from law enforcement exclusion, at least one other court applying a nearly identically worded statute has held that statute does not invalidate an illegal acts exclusion.

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